
1

Democratic Services
White Cliffs Business Park
Dover
Kent  CT16 3PJ

Telephone: (01304) 821199
Fax: (01304) 872453
DX: 6312
Minicom: (01304) 820115
Website: www.dover.gov.uk
e-mail: democraticservices

@dover.gov.uk

20 April 2018

Dear Councillor

NOTICE OF DECISION TAKEN BETWEEN MEETINGS – (DPH04 17) TIDES LEISURE 
POOL – ALLOCATION OF FUNDS FOR CONSULTANTS

Please find attached details of a decision taken by Councillor Mike Conolly, Portfolio Holder 
for Corporate Resources and Performance, to allocate funds for the appointment of 
consultants to prepare a tender specification for capital works to Tides Leisure Centre.

The Chairman of the Council has agreed to suspend call-in for the reasons set out in 
paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3 of the Decision Notice.
 
Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Kate Batty-Smith 
on 01304 872303 or by e-mail at kate.batty-smith@dover.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Democratic Support Officer

ENCL

1  NOTICE OF DECISION TAKEN BETWEEN MEETINGS - (DPH04 17) TIDES 
LEISURE POOL - ALLOCATION OF FUNDS FOR CONSULTANTS  (Pages 2-14)

Public Document Pack



Decision Notice

Decision Taken Between Meetings

Dover District Council

Decision No: DPH04

Subject: TIDES LEISURE POOL – ALLOCATION OF FUNDS FOR 
APPOINTMENT OF CONSULTANTS

Notification Date: 20 April 2018

Implementation Date: 20 April 2018

Decision taken by: Councillor Michael Conolly, Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources and Performance

Authority: Paragraph 12 of Section 3C (General Responsibilities 
Delegated to all Members of the Executive) of Part 3 
(Responsibility for Functions) of the Constitution

Decision Type: Executive Non-Key Decision 

Call-In to Apply No (The Chairman has agreed to suspend call-in for the 
reasons set out in paragraph 1.2)

Classification: Unrestricted 

Reason for the 
Decision:

To approve the allocation of £50,000 from the Tides 
Refurbishment Provision included within the current Medium Term 
Financial Plan to enable the appointment of specialist consultants, 
so that the Council can develop an informed brief for potential 
contractors and obtain firm costs from those contractors for 
essential and urgent plant repairs at Tides Leisure Pool.

Decision: To approve the allocation of £50,000 from the Tides 
Refurbishment Provision included within the current Medium Term 
Financial Plan.

1. Consideration and Alternatives (if applicable)

1.1 See attached report.

1.2    The Chairman of the Council has agreed to suspend call-in as, if exercised, it would 
delay the appointment of consultants when it is imperative that the Council prepares 
to address urgent and essential plant repairs at Tides Leisure Pool.  Following a 
recent examination of recurring plant issues, a mechanical electrical plant 
replacement report has identified that unless these repairs are undertaken as soon 
as possible there is a high risk of the pool having to be closed during the winter of 
2018/19.

1.3    These repairs will not only help to avoid closures of the pool but are a fundamental 
element of safeguarding the long-term future of Tides Leisure Centre.  It is intended 
to report to Cabinet in June on a wider feasibility study for the Centre to ensure that 
Members are fully informed on the short, medium and long-term refurbishment 
options.  

2. Any Conflicts of Interest Declared?
2.3       None.

2

Agenda Item No 1



3.      Supporting Information (as applicable)

3.1    See attached report.

3



Dover District Council

Subject: TIDES LEISURE POOL – ALLOCATION OF FUNDS FOR 
APPOINTMENT OF CONSULTANTS

Date: 20 April 2018

Decision to be taken 
by:

Councillor Mike Connolly, Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources and Performance 

Report of: Laura Corby, Principal Leisure Officer and Emma Allen, 
Principal Infrastructure Delivery Officer

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Mike Connolly, Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources and Performance and Councillor Trevor Bartlett, 
Portfolio Holder for Property Management and 
Environmental Health

Decision Type: Executive Non-Key Decision

Classification: Unrestricted

Purpose of the report: To approve the allocation of £50,000 from the Tides 
Refurbishment Provision included within the current Medium 
Term Financial Plan in order to appoint specialist consultants to 
support the Council in assessing the need for, and cost of, urgent 
plant repairs at Tides Leisure Pool in the context of the wider 
feasibility appraisal into options for refurbishment of the Tides 
wet and dry-side facilities.

Recommendation: 1. To approve the allocation of £50,000 from the Tides 
Refurbishment Provision included within the current 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

1. Summary

1.1 Members will be aware through the financial information contained within the Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP), as reported to Cabinet in March 2018, Tides is likely to 
require significant capital investment over the coming years.  An initial feasibility 
appraisal of options for refurbishment of wet and dry-side facilities at Tides Leisure 
Centre is being undertaken, which is scheduled to be reported to Cabinet in June.  
During preparation of the feasibility appraisal it has become apparent that unless 
pool plant repairs are undertaken during this calendar year there is a high risk of 
possible closures during the winter of 2018/19.

1.2 This report seeks to secure the allocation of funds in order to engage specialist 
consultants so that the Council can develop an informed brief for potential 
contractors and to obtain firm costs from those contractors for essential and urgent 
plant repairs at Tides Leisure Pool. The information obtained will be presented to 
Cabinet alongside the initial feasibility appraisal into options for refurbishment of 
Tides wet and dry-side facilities.  This will ensure that Members are fully informed of 
the short, medium and long-term options for Tides Leisure Centre when considering 
the feasibility appraisal of options. It is proposed that this is funded by an allocation of 
£50,000 from the Tides Refurbishment Provision within the MTFP. 

2. Introduction and Background

4



2.1 Tides Leisure Pool in Deal was constructed in 1987 and features a 150ft water slide, 
wave machine, jacuzzi bubble pools, and a small shallow water pool for toddlers. The 
swimming pool and slides are in an open plan design and share the same enclosures 
as the main terrace reception, pool terrace seating area and cafeteria. The leisure 
centre also features a fitness gym and bar area that is currently used to 
accommodate some fitness classes and children’s parties. 

2.2 The centre has undergone two major expansions over the past two decades adding a 
four court sports hall in 2002 and a four court indoor tennis centre in 2011. However, 
the leisure pool is now over 30 years old and much of the plant serving the swimming 
pool and slides are original and were not upgraded to accommodate the additional 
expansion projects.

2.3 Members will be aware through the financial information contained within the Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) that Tides is likely to require significant capital 
investment over the coming years.  An initial feasibility appraisal of options for 
refurbishment of wet and dry side facilities at Tides Leisure Centre is being 
undertaken, which is scheduled to be reported to Cabinet in June.  That report will 
set out options to be considered for possible delivery in the coming three to seven 
years.

2.4 A Mechanical Electrical Plant Replacement report for Tides is attached at appendix 
one. This was produced by ME Engineers (the appointed mechanical and electrical 
engineers for Dover District Leisure Centre). It is clear from examination of numerous 
re-occurring plant issues, that essential plant items are failing and need replacing or 
refurbishing prior to winter 2018. Some examples include replacement of boilers to 
avoid complete failure; refurbishment of chemical dosing facilities to address 
essential design; repairs to electronic control panels to prevent localised burn-outs 
which caused centre closure on one occasion. While the operator is conducting and 
recording in house testing to record water loss from the pool tank, it is also 
recommended that further detailed investigation is undertaken by engaging specialist 
consultants to test pool water leakages and assist with the re-design of a chemical 
and acid store area. The suggested timetable of the project proposed by ME 
Engineers may need to be adjusted to account for planning requirements. 

2.5 Due to the specialist nature and complexity of this work, it is recommended that ME 
Engineers are appointed to undertake a competitive tendering process to specify 
works and evaluate tenders so that exact costs are established for works set out in 
appendix one. It is recommended that specialist consultants are also engaged to 
investigate pool water leakages and cost of design work for chemical storage. 

2.6 It is anticipated to report back on the information obtained to Members in June 
alongside the initial feasibility appraisal into options for refurbishment of Tides wet 
and dry side facilities.  This will ensure that Members are fully informed of the short, 
medium and long term options for Tides Leisure Centre, when considering the 
feasibility appraisal of options.  At this stage, the cost of the consultancy works for 
plant investigation is expected to be in the region of £50,000. 

3. Identification of Options

3.1 Option one: To approve the allocation of £50,000 from the Tides Refurbishment 
Provision included within the current Medium Term Financial Plan in order to appoint 
specialist consultants to support the Council in assessing the need for, and cost of, 
urgent plant repairs at Tides Leisure Pool. 

3.2 Option two: To do nothing.   

5



4. Evaluation of Options

4.1 Option one is the preferred option. This will provide Members with information to 
inform future short medium and long term options when considering the feasibility 
appraisal of options for Tides Leisure Centre. It will help to advance preparation to 
address urgent essential plant refurbishment. It will also help to reduce the risk of 
frequent or permanent pool closure and any potential compensation claim through 
loss of income by the operator.

4.2 Option two is not recommended as there is a high risk of pool closure and this will 
have a negative impact on the Council’s financial position and reputation.

5. Resource Implications

It is proposed to finance the consultancy costs by allocating £50,000 from the Tides 
Refurbishment provision included in the current Medium Term Financial Plan.

6. Corporate Implications

6.1 Comment from the Section 151 Officer: Accountancy have been consulted and have 
no further comment to add. (KW)

6.2 Comment from the Solicitor to the Council: The Head of Legal Services has been 
consulted in the preparation of this report and has no further comments to make.

6.3 Comment from the Equalities Officer: This report does not specifically highlight any 
equality implications, however in discharging their duties members are required to 
comply with the public sector equality duty as set out in section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15

7. Appendices

Appendix 1 – MEP Plant Replacement Report for Tides Leisure Centre.

8. Background Papers

None.

Contact Officer:  Laura Corby Extn 2448 & Emma Allen Extn 2120

6

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15


Tides Leisure Centre 

5th April 2018 

17007.01/10  

 

 

MEP Plant 
Replacement Report 

Rev 02 

7



 
Tides Leisure Centre - Deal 
MEP Plant Replacement Report 
  
 

   
Z:\General\APROJECTS\17007 - Tides Leisure Centre Peer Review\Documents\10 -  SPECIFICATIONS AND REPORTS\180405 Tides Leisure 

Centre MEP Plant Replacement Rev02.docx   Page 1 of 7 
 

 

Tides Leisure Centre   
Deal, Kent 

 
 
 

MEP Plant Replacement Report  
 
 

Issue and Revision Record 

 

 

Rev / 
Issue 

Date Description Revision 
Details 

Prepared Checked 

- 28th March 2018 First Issue  J Whitlock J Whitlock 

1 3rd April 2018 Second Issue Incorporate 
Client Comments 

J Whitlock J Whitlock 

2 5th April 2018 Third Issue Incorporate 
Client Comments 

J Whitlock J Whitlock 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
This document has been prepared for the titled project or named part thereof and should not be relied upon or used for any other 
project without an independent check being carried out as to its suitability and prior written authority of M-E Engineers Limited being 
obtained.  This document, which may include extracts from or refer to British Standards, is the sole copyright of M-E Engineers 
Limited.  It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part without written permission of M-E Engineers Limited.  M-E Engineers Limited 
accepts no responsibility or liability for the consequences of this document being used for a purpose other than the purposes for 
which it was commissioned.  Any person using or relying on the document for such other purpose agrees, and will by such use or 
reliance be taken to confirm his agreement to indemnify M-E Engineers Limited for all loss of damage resulting therefrom.  M-E 
Engineers Limited accepts no responsibility or liability for this document to any party other than the person by whom it was 
commissioned. 

  

8



 
Tides Leisure Centre - Deal 
MEP Plant Replacement Report 
  
 

   
Z:\General\APROJECTS\17007 - Tides Leisure Centre Peer Review\Documents\10 -  SPECIFICATIONS AND REPORTS\180405 Tides Leisure 

Centre MEP Plant Replacement Rev02.docx   Page 2 of 7 
 

 

CONTENTS 
 
 

Section Title Page No 
 

1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 3 

2 EXISTING PLANT AND PROPOSALS ................................................................................ 4 

2.1 Boilers ................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.2 Pumps ................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.3 Control Panels ..................................................................................................................... 4 

2.4 Domestic Hot Water ............................................................................................................ 5 

2.5 Pool Heating ......................................................................................................................... 5 

2.6 Pool Water Treatment ......................................................................................................... 5 

2.7 Ventilation Plant .................................................................................................................. 6 

2.8 Water Storage Tank for Pool Water Make Up ................................................................... 6 

2.9 Water Loss from Main Pool ................................................................................................ 6 

3 PROGRAMME....................................................................................................................... 7 

9



 
Tides Leisure Centre - Deal 
MEP Plant Replacement Report 
  
 

   
Z:\General\APROJECTS\17007 - Tides Leisure Centre Peer Review\Documents\10 -  SPECIFICATIONS AND REPORTS\180405 Tides Leisure 

Centre MEP Plant Replacement Rev02.docx   Page 3 of 7 
 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

M-E Engineers were asked by Dover District Council (DDC), to attend a workshop at the existing Tides 
Leisure Centre, Deal, Kent with representatives from Dover District Council, the Operator and the 
maintenance company that look after the heating plant and controls. 
 
The workshop reviewed the future proposals for the existing leisure centre and the operation of the 
existing plant systems, with the intention to assess whether replacement would be beneficial or required 
under health and safety grounds. 
 
Other factors were also considered including reuse of any plant in a future redevelopment at the site, 
reuse of plant from the existing Dover Leisure Centre and any benefits from energy consumption/ 
carbon reduction. 
 
The replacement of the existing plant will, in the majority of cases indicate a saving whether that be gas, 
water or electricity consumption. It is very difficult to predict the savings for each item of plant that is 
being replaced, as there are so many factors that need to be taken into account, but on a holistic basis, 
when compared to existing operational hours and use, we estimate the following :- 
 
Gas – Predicted saving based on number of operating hours      25% 
 
Water – Predicted saving based on wasted water using current valve arrangement  10% 
 
Electricity  - Predicted saving based on number of operating hours     5% 
 
It is intended that new items of plant, where possible, will be reused in any future scheme at Tides and 
we estimate that the saving on capital expenditure against a future project will be circa £75,000.00. 
 
It should be noted that M-E Engineers are experienced in water treatment however we are not 
specialists in this field and it is recommended that a water treatment specialist such as FT Leisure are 
engaged directly by Dover District Council to assist with the final design of the chemical and acid store 
as well as assisting with the testing of pool water leakage and best method of ongoing treatment. 
 

10



 
Tides Leisure Centre - Deal 
MEP Plant Replacement Report 
  
 

   
Z:\General\APROJECTS\17007 - Tides Leisure Centre Peer Review\Documents\10 -  SPECIFICATIONS AND REPORTS\180405 Tides Leisure 

Centre MEP Plant Replacement Rev02.docx   Page 4 of 7 
 

 

2 EXISTING PLANT AND PROPOSALS 

2.1 Boilers 

There are 2No. existing boilers on site both gas fired and rated at 640kW and installed in 
1987. Since the original construction, a number of additional extensions have been added, 
without the increase in heating plant capacity to cater for the additional floor area that 
requires heating and hot water. 
 
DSL the current maintainers on behalf of DDC identified a catalogue of issues that have 
occurred over the last few years that were clarified further by a site survey. Apart from 
various component failures, the most concerning issue is a hairline crack in one of the 
sections of the boilers, that is believed to have not resulted in complete failure, due to the 
need to keep the boilers operational 24/7, in order to maintain the temperature in the building, 
particularly through the winter months. 
 
The replacement of these boilers is recommended due to the number of faults occurring and 
a potential complete failure looming. In addition the new boilers will be selected such that 
they are modular in the way they work, so they will be sized for the future development but 
able to operate at a lower capacity for the existing leisure centre whilst running more 
efficiently than the existing system. It is expected that there will be a significant saving in gas 
consumption and a lowering of carbon emissions as a direct result of the replacement. 
 

2.2 Pumps 

The existing pumps have been replaced over the last few years with good quality units that 
are sized to suit the pipework and heating plant.  

It is not intended to replace the pumps as they have been replaced recently and 
replacements are readily available. 

The pumps will not be reused in any future development as they will be sized to suit the 
existing installation and unlikely to be a match for a future development. 

 

2.3 Control Panels 

The existing electrical controls and contactors are showing signs of major failure and a 
number of localised burn outs have occurred, with one causing a closure of the centre. 

From site survey it can be seen that the localised burn outs have caused damage to 
containment and likely other cables within the control panel. It is also likely that the other 
contactors have worn contacts in the same way that has led to burn outs. 

Replacement of the electrical panels is recommended as there is a risk that a more onerous 
event could occur such as a full electrical fire. 

The new control panel will be bespoke for the existing leisure centre and unlikely to be able 
to adapt for the future development, however components may be transferrable for spare 
parts. 

It is known that the actual control system is not functioning and manual operation is utilised, 
with staff having to rely on judgement in deciding whether to set the temperature controls 
higher or lower each evening, ready for the next day’s use. 

The saving in gas and electricity by having suitable controls will be significant as well as 
reducing the buildings carbon footprint. 

 

11



 
Tides Leisure Centre - Deal 
MEP Plant Replacement Report 
  
 

   
Z:\General\APROJECTS\17007 - Tides Leisure Centre Peer Review\Documents\10 -  SPECIFICATIONS AND REPORTS\180405 Tides Leisure 

Centre MEP Plant Replacement Rev02.docx   Page 5 of 7 
 

 

2.4 Domestic Hot Water 

The domestic hot water system is supplied from 2No. storage calorifiers with a capacity of 
520 litres each. 

They are made of stainless steel and were manufactured in 1988 by Hoval a reputable 
manufacturer. 

There have not been any major problems with the calorifiers, so they are not being 
considered for replacement. 

There may be some work on the controls but these are relatively minor for the gain that will 
be made in efficiency that will in turn reduce energy consumption and carbon footprint. 

2.5 Pool Heating 

The existing pool heating is achieved using a low loss header and control valves. This 
system does not give effective hydraulic separation between the primary and secondary 
circulation, with the risk that any leak or problem will lead to a total shut down.  

The existing controls have failed meaning that all setting is done manually, leading to 
inefficiencies in operation and thus energy efficiency and carbon footprint. 

It is recommended to replace the low loss header with a plate heat exchanger that will be 
reuseable in the future development, the pumping arrangements will also be reviewed and 
any new pumps will be inverter driven to allow them to be reuseable in a future 
development. 

The installation of the plate heat exchanger will give better control and efficiency for the 
pool water heating whilst giving hydraulic separation to the primary and secondary water 
circulation, minimising the risk of total shutdown in the event of a fault on either the primary 
or secondary sides of the plat heat exchanger. 

The efficiency improvement will also have the effect of reduced energy consumption and 
reduction on carbon footprint. 

2.6 Pool Water Treatment 

The pool water treatment is in very poor condition having failed in the recent past with 
catastrophic damage to control panels and valves. 

The disinfection system was originally design using an ozone system but this failed in the 
past and has not been operational for some time. The result is that more sodium 
hypochlorite is being used than necessary to ensure the correct levels are achieved in the 
pool. There is always risk with a manual operation for such things as pool water treatment, 
not only from the quality of water but also the amount of manual handling to keep topping 
up the system. 

The bunds are in poor condition albeit a repair has been carried out after the past spillage 
into the basement plant area and the drench showers are in poor condition in a very 
crowded area making them not easy to access should an emergency occur. 

It is recommended to install a new Ultra Violet filter system to ensure effective disinfection, 
and although this does have ongoing maintenance commitments it will be more effective 
and reduce risks advised previously. The UV filter will be able to be reused in the future 
development. 

To overcome the many issues with the storage and use of sodium hypochlorite and 
hydrochloric acid, including risk of damage to plant and equipment and health and safety 
risk to personnel, it is recommended to provide a new storage facility external to the plant 
area that will contain a chemical store and acid store incorporating the necessary drench 
showers. Planning consent will be required for such an addition to the building, and this 
action should be built into the development of a more detailed delivery programme. 

12



 
Tides Leisure Centre - Deal 
MEP Plant Replacement Report 
  
 

   
Z:\General\APROJECTS\17007 - Tides Leisure Centre Peer Review\Documents\10 -  SPECIFICATIONS AND REPORTS\180405 Tides Leisure 

Centre MEP Plant Replacement Rev02.docx   Page 6 of 7 
 

 

 

The equipment purchased for the chemical and acid store will be reuseable in a future 
development, however, the housing itself will most likely be unusable. 

2.7 Ventilation Plant 

The existing ventilation plant to the main pool area is fully operational and some 
replacements have occurred to the fan motors over the recent months. 

It has been observed that the humidity in the café area adjacent the pool is extreme at times 
and although bathers do not tend to complain, if members of the public are sitting waiting or 
just resting the environment is unpleasant. 

In an attempt to improve the situation it is intended to review the belts and pulleys within the 
air handling units, with a view to increase the output volume to push more air into the pool 
area that will reduce the effect of humidity. 

One further observation on site was that the fresh air intake and heated air exhaust are within 
the same overall louvre that is leading to short cycling where the warmer exhaust air is being 
pulled into the fresh air intake side of the air handling ductwork, this will exasperate the 
humidity issue within the pool area. 

It is recommended to replace the louvre with a separate fresh air intake and exhaust louvre 
located at 90 degrees to one another. This will involve the installation of a new louvre. 

The additional louvre installed around the corner of the building will give a significant 
improvement to the air distribution efficiency and quality of air being delivered in to the pool 
area. 

Anything more extensive in attempting to correct the issues will be very disruptive to 
operations and high capital outlay, particularly when weighted against the level of complaints 
received about the issue. 

2.8 Water Storage Tank for Pool Water Make Up 

The existing water storage tank for pool water make up is currently located above the 
pump pit making it inaccessible for future maintenance. 

The existing valve arrangement is such that water is constantly running via the overflow 
externally. 

It was also observed during survey that the connections to the incoming mains water are 
deteriorated to the point when failure could occur at any time. 

To avoid such water wastage, provide more resilience to the water connections and 
improve on the health and safety aspects, it is recommended to relocate the tank on a new 
frame located where the existing sodium hypochlorite is located with new pipework 
installed locally from incoming water supply connections. 

2.9 Water Loss from Main Pool 

It has been observed by the Pool Manager that there is a significant loss of water from the 
main pool that requires regular topping up consistent with a leak. It was observed that some 
investigation into this issue has taken place, with various areas dug out to inspect the effect 
on structures and whether it was possible to determine the source of the leak. 

As part of the works it is recommended to establish the level of leakage by installation of 
additional water meters on the pipework feeding the main pool, in addition some additional 
testing of the pool water loss will be carried out to determine the level of water loss due to 
evaporation.  

It is expected that this information will better inform where any future intrusive investigations 
should be focused. 

13



 
Tides Leisure Centre - Deal 
MEP Plant Replacement Report 
  
 

   
Z:\General\APROJECTS\17007 - Tides Leisure Centre Peer Review\Documents\10 -  SPECIFICATIONS AND REPORTS\180405 Tides Leisure 

Centre MEP Plant Replacement Rev02.docx   Page 7 of 7 
 

 

3 PROGRAMME 

 

Report Issued by M-E Engineers 28th March 2018   

Appointment of engineers to create 
design  
  

Early April 2018 
 

Design Period, including drawings, 
specifications and tender documents 
 
 
 

April /May/June  2018 8 weeks design period 

Cabinet Report Early June 2018 Allow up to three weeks for 
internal preparation 

Tender & Procure  
 

Early July 2018 
 

Appoint contractors  Mid-August 2018 Allow six weeks lead in for 
ordering equipment  

Commence works  
 

Early October 2018   

Complete works 
 

Mid December 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

14


	Agenda
	1 Notice of Decision Taken Between Meetings - (DPH04 17) Tides Leisure Pool - Allocation of Funds for Consultants
	Final Report - New Version Tides Leisure Pool
	Tides Leisure Pool - Appendix One


